0+7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID J. WHITE
CLERK SUPREME COURT
Rv
Chief Deputy Clerk

JAMES BROWN,

v.

Petitioner,

recretoner

CASE NO. 81,189

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

P. DOUGLAS BRINKMEYER FLA. BAR NO. 197890 ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER CHIEF, APPELLATE DIVISION LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES BROWN,

Petitioner, :

v. : CASE NO. 81,189

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Respondent. :

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the defendant in the trial court and the appellant in the lower tribunal. A three volume record on appeal, including transcripts, will be referred to as "R," followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

Attached hereto as an appendix is the opinion of the lower tribunal, which has been reported as Brown v. State, 610 So. 2d 1356 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). The issue presented in this case is also pending review before this Court in Turner v. State, case no. 81,519, Bailey, et al. v. State, case no. 81,621, State v. Kirkland, case no. 81,725.

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

By information filed March 13, 1991, petitioner was charged with sale of cocaine within 200 feet of a public housing facility (R 133). The cause proceeded to jury trial on May 28, 30, 1991, and at the conclusion thereof petitioner was found guilty as charged (R 142).

The state's evidence tended to prove that on January 16, 1991, the Panama City Police Department conducted a controlled buy of drugs using confidential informant Ronald Reed. Officer Jimmy Stanford monitored the buy in "the area by the Masselina Projects, between Masselina Projects and the Neota Motel, which is the 1400 block of Palo Alto Avenue" (R 38). Reed purchased a piece of crack cocaine from petitioner. The transaction occurred "between 14th Street and 14th Court on Palo Alto Avenue" (R 42). The witness further stated, when asked if it was within 200 feet of a public housing project: "it is within 20 or 30 feet, but it was on, actually occurred on, on the roadway" (R 44).

Virgil Tinklenberg, executive director of the Panama City Housing Authority, testified that his agency owned the Masselina Projects, and that it was bordered on the west by Palo Alto Avenue (R 69-71). Officer Jake Tankersly saw petitioner on the corner of 14th and Palo Alto after the buy (R 71-73).

On July 9, 1991, petitioner was adjudicated guilty and sentenced to 12 years in prison, with credit for 153 days served, followed by 10 years probation (R 154-55; 189-90). On

July 26, 1991, a timely notice of appeal was filed (R 173). On November 13, 1991, the Public Defender of the Second Judicial Circuit was designated to represent petitioner.

On appeal, petitioner challenged the statute under which he was convicted, §893.13(1)(i), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1990), because the failure of the legislature to define "public housing facility" rendered it unconstitutionally vague.

The First District disagreed and held the statute to be constitutional:

Based upon dictionary definitions of the individual words, appellant suggests that the average person of common intelligence would interpret the phrase "public housing facility" as including any type of housing where the public is able to reside. In this manner, Brown ignores the fact that the phrase itself has a meaning more narrow than that gleaned from the definitions of its component words. Although the definition of "public housing facility" might not be included in a dictionary, a person of ordinary intelligence should know what was intended by the phrase. Appendix at 3; 610 So. 2d at 1358; emphasis added.

Petitioner also attacked a condition of his probation because the written order did not conform to the oral pronouncement and because the judge improperly delegated to the probation officer the duty to define a "high drug" area. The lower tribunal did not address this issue.

On February 1, 1993, a timely notice of discretionary review was filed, pursuant to Art. V, §3(3)(b)(3), Fla. Const., and Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(i), Fla.R.App.P. On May 24, 1993, this Court accepted review and scheduled oral argument for November 1, 1993.

III SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The First District's opinion in this case expressly declares valid the state statute creating the crime of sale of a controlled substance within 200 feet of a public housing facility, making the crime a first degree felony, and prohibiting release through control release or the accumulation of gain time.

An opinion from this Court will notify citizens of this state what conduct is prohibited. The First District's opinion assumes the general public knows what a "public housing facility" is, although that term was never defined by the legislature and cannot be found in the dictionary. In fact, the dictionary definitions of these words would lead a person of common intelligence to believe that any place where people live is a protected area.

The due process vagueness doctrine requires a statute to both give notice to its citizens what conduct is prohibited and prevent discriminatory enforcement.

The Second District has criticized the lower tribunal's opinion and declared the statute to be unconstitutionally vague. The Third District has agreed with the First. This Court should adopt the position of the Second District, quash the First and Third Districts, and declare the statute unconstitutionally vague on its face.

Petitioner also attacked a condition of his probation because the written order did not conform to the oral pronouncement and because the judge improperly delegated to the

probation officer the responsibility to define what a "high drug area" was. The lower tribunal did not address this issue, but this Court should strike the condition, as part of its exercise of jurisdiction over the entire case.

IV ARGUMENT

ISSUE I SECTION 893.13(1)(i), FLORIDA STATUTES, IS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE ON ITS FACE.

The First District's construction of §893.13(1)(i), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1990), is incorrect because it expressly declares valid an unconstitutionally vague statute. Section 893.13(1)(i) states, in pertinent part:

it is unlawful for any person to sell, ... a controlled substance in, on, or within 200 feet of the real property comprising a public housing facility, ... (emphasis added).

The statute makes the crime a first degree felony, and exempts the offender from consideration for control release and gain time. $^{\rm l}$

Petitioner contended below and argues here that this statute violates State and Federal due process guarantees, because it does not give notice of what is prohibited, in that "public housing facility" is not defined. The due process vagueness doctrine requires a statute to both give notice to its citizens what conduct is prohibited and prevent discriminatory enforcement.

¹The undersigned could not locate a parallel federal criminal statute on point. 21 U.S.C. §860 doubles the penalties for distribution of controlled substances within 1000 feet of a school, much like §893.13(1)(e), Fla. Stat., but does not speak to public housing facilities. The federal government encourages the eviction of residents of housing facilities owned by HUD, who are involved in drugs, 42 U.S.C. §1437d(1), but that policy has come under some criticism. Comment, 36 Loyola L. Rev. 137 (1990).

In <u>Kolender v. Lawson</u>, 461 U.S. 352, 357, 103 S. Ct. 1855, 75 L. Ed. 2d 903 (1983), the court ruled the California loitering statute unconstitutionally vague. The court set forth this test:

As generally stated, the void-for-vagueness doctrine requires that a penal statute define the criminal offense with such sufficient definiteness that ordinary people can understand what conduct is prohibited and in a manner that does not encourage arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement.

In <u>Bertens v. Stewart</u>, 453 So. 2d 92, 93 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984), the court said, citing <u>State v. Wershow</u>, 343 So. 2d 605 (Fla. 1977):

It is constitutionally impermissible for a statute to contain such vague language that a person of common intelligence must speculate about its meaning and subject himself to punishment if his guess is wrong.

A statute is unconstitutionally vague if it:

fails to give adequate notice of the conduct it prohibits and which, because of its imprecision, may also invite arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement.

Id., citing Southeastern Fisheries Assoc. v. Department of Natural Resources, 453 So. 2d 1351 (Fla. 1984).

In <u>Bertens</u>, the court held a rule, which prohibited personal possession of "medicine" at school, was unconstitutional because it failed to give adequate notice what is required under due process.

In reaching its decision that the rule was impermissibly vague, the court noted that the school board's failure to

define medicine did not, in and of itself, render the rule unconstitutional. Rather, the court looked to the "ordinary" meaning of the term "medicine." The court concluded that the dictionary definition did not cure the infirmity and that the term "medicine" was impermissibly vague.

See also <u>Linville v. State</u>, 359 So. 2d 450 (Fla. 1978), in which this Court declared unconstitutional a statute which outlawed the sniffing of a "chemical substance," because it too broadly encompassed an unduly large number of materials and objects.

Penal statutes must be strictly construed, §775.021(1), Fla. Stat., and they require greater certainty than other statutes. State v. Winters, 346 So. 2d 991 (Fla. 1977).

The First District held in this case that:

Although the definition of "public housing facility" might not be included in a dictionary, a person of ordinary intelligence should know what was intended by the phrase. Appendix at 3; 610 So. 2d at 1358; emphasis added.

But this is not the test; it is not whether a person should know; rather, it is whether a person of common intelligence does know what the term means by reading the statute.

The Third District made the same mistake in Williams v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly Dl220 (Fla. 3rd DCA May 11, 1993), when it ruled the same statute constitutional because its judges knew what the term meant:

The term "public housing," in common parlance, is understood to to encompass affordable, government subsidized housing

for individuals or families with varied needs.

Id. at 1221.

The Second District reached the proper result in State v.

Thomas, et al., 18 Fla. L. Weekly D1067 (Fla. 2nd DCA April 21,
1993), review pending, case no. 81,724, when it ruled the
statute unconstitutionally vague. First, it criticized the
lower tribunal for its cursory examination of the statute:

We find Brown, however, to be neither helpful nor persuasive as the discussion therein regarding the vagueness of the statute is limited to one paragraph

While the Brown court concludes that "a person of ordinary intelligence should know what was intended by the phrase public housing facility, we have not been able to decipher the intended meaning of the phrase with any degree of precision. The phrase is not defined in any dictionary, case law or sufficiently related statute that we can discover. While each of the three words of the phrase can be independently and easily defined, when used together in the statute, they present a veritable quagmire for any attempt at uniform enforcement.

Id; emphasis in original.

Next, the Second District struggled to find a way to place a judicial gloss on the statute which would make it constitutional.

We used several approaches as we analyzed the alleged vagueness of this statute. We first considered whether we could articulate a precise jury instruction that would adequately advise a jury how to apply the statute in any particular set of circumstances. We were unable to do so. We also considered whether we could advise law enforcement officers in the field as to a precise standard to apply in enforcing the statute. We were unable to do so. We

then considered at great length the myriad circumstances under which the statutory prohibition might be applicable. Although we could provide a long list of such circumstances, we set forth here only a few of the possibilities that raised sufficient doubt in our minds to require us to conclude the statute is unconstitutionally vague.

The Second District next looked at each individual term, beginning with the term "public:"

In regard to the "public" aspect of the "public housing facility" provision, we have no way of definitively ascertaining whether the legislature intended the phrase to apply to publicly-owned housing to the exclusion of privately-owned housing; housing available for occupancy by the "public" in general or for low income occupants only; to housing that is government financed or built; to housing that is privately owned but government financed or built; or to housing that is privately-owned but leased to a government agency for availability to public welfare recipients. We simply have no idea as to the limitations that might be or should be applied to the "public" aspect of a "public housing facility."

Id. The Second District then looked at the term "housing:"

The same problem exists in trying to correctly determine the parameters of the term "housing." Does that term apply to rental units only? Does it refer to multifamily housing only or also to single family units? Does it apply to dormitory and congregate living facilities? Are military housing facilities included? Are religious or charitable owned and operated facilities available for occupancy or "shelter use" by the public included? The possibilities extend ad infinitum.

Id. The Second District finally examined the term "facility:"

Finally, the term "facility" is open to so many possible interpretations as to be bewildering. Are the corporate offices of a "public housing facility" included? Are government offices that operate low income housing included? Are sewage, water and utility facilities included?

Id. The Second District then declared the statute to be unconstitutionally vaque:

In our opinion the possibilities for a misapplication of the term "public housing facility" are too numerous to allow that provision to section 893.13(1)(i) to withstand constitutional scrutiny.

Td.

The term "public housing facility" is not defined in the drug abuse statute. A search of the Florida Statutes related to housing does not reveal a definition for the term "public housing facility." The only passage of the statutes where the term "public housing" is used is in connection with the State Housing Incentive Partnership (SHIP) Act of 1988. Chap. 420, Fla. Stat., Part I. "Public housing" is mentioned in \$420.00003(3)(d), Fla. Stat., but this is a legislative intent section and not a definitional section:

Public Housing. — The important contribution of public housing to the well-being of low-income citizens shall be acknowledged through state and local government efforts to provide services and assistance through existing programs to public housing facilities and tenants.

The definitional portion of the act, §420.00004, Fla. Stat., does not define the term. "Facility" is not defined anywhere in Chapter 420.

Chap. 421, Fla. Stat., governs public housing. The term "public housing facility" does not appear therein, but the term

"housing project" does. Section 421.03(9), Fla. Stat., defines "housing project" as:

"Housing project" shall mean any work or undertaking:

- (a) To demolish, clear, or remove buildings from any slum area; such work or undertaking may embrace the adaptation of such area to public purposes, including parks or other recreational or community purposes; or
- (b) To provide decent, safe and sanitary urban or rural dwellings, apartments or other living accommodations for persons of low income; such work or undertaking may include buildings, land, equipment, facilities or other real or personal property for necessary, convenient or desirable appurtenances, streets, sewers, water service, parks, site preparation, gardening, administrative, community, health, recreational, educational, welfare or other purposes; or
- (c) To accomplish a combination of the foregoing. The term "housing project" also may be applied to the planning of the buildings and improvements, the acquisition of property, the demolition of existing structures, the construction, restoration, alteration and repair of the improvements and all other work in connection therewith.

These definitions are not particularly helpful to understand what a "public housing facility" is. Even if the legislature intended for the traditional low-income "housing project" to be targeted in §893.13(1)(i), the legislature did not use this statutory term; rather, it used "housing facility," a term with no definition. And even if the state uses this definition to attempt to save the statute, the statute is still vague.

A vacant lot could be a "housing project" within subsection (a) of the statutory definition, if it is some day envisioned as a dwelling place. A vegetable garden could be a

"housing project" within subsection (b) of the statutory definition, if it is in some way connected to a dwelling place. An abandoned building could be a "housing project" within subsection (c) of the statutory definition, if it is some day remodeled into a dwelling place. People of common intelligence must still guess as to the statute's meaning.

This Court has no power to rewrite the statute to make it constitutional. That is a job for the legislature. State v. Wershow, supra. In Brown v. State, 358 So. 2d 16 (Fla. 1978), this Court declared the open profanity statute unconstitutionally overbroad, and impossible to save by a limiting judicial construction:

The Florida Constitution requires a certain provision defined by the legislature, not legislation articulated by the judiciary. ... This constitutional mandate obtains for two reasons. First, if legislative intent is not apparent from the statutory language, judicial reconstruction of vague or overbroad statutes could frustrate the true legislative intent. Second, in some circumstances, doubts about judicial competence to authoritatively construe legislation are warranted. Often a court has neither the legislative fact-finding machinery nor experience with the particular statutory subject matter to enable it to authoritatively construe a [statute].

Id. at 20; citations omitted.

Even if "low income" is judicially engrafted onto "housing facility," in an attempt to save the statute, the statute remains vague. Section 421.03(10), Fla. Stat., defines "low income" as:

"Persons of low income" shall mean persons or families who lack the amount of income which is necessary, as determined by the authority undertaking the housing project, to enable them, without financial assistance, to live in decent, safe and sanitary dwellings, without overcrowding.

Equating "low income" with "public" is internally inconsistent with other portions of the statute. The statute also enhances the penalties for drug transactions close to public schools and public parks. One does not have to be a low income person to attend public school or play basketball in a public park. Even rich people are allowed to use these places too.

Moreover, the concept of "low income" is not susceptible to quantification, but the statute leaves that determination to the local housing authority. A person of common intelligence must necessarily guess whether the housing authority will classify someone as "low income."

Moreover, some single parents employed as secretaries by the state, with several dependants, may believe they meet the definition, even if the housing authority does not. In short, restricting the statute's scope to low income housing does not alleviate any of its vagueness.

Because there is no statutory definition for "public housing facility," the words must be construed according to their plain meaning. State v. Hagen, 387 So. 2d 943 (Fla. 1980). In the absence of a statutory definition, case law, or related statutory provisions which define a statutory term, the

next step is to consult a dictionary to determine the meaning of the term. Bertens v. Stewart, supra, 453 So. 2d at 94.

Webster's New World Dictionary (2d college ed.) defines the adjective "public" as:

1. of, belonging to, or concerning the people as a whole; of or by the community at large
2. for the use or benefit of all; esp. supported by government funds
3. as regards community, rather than private, affairs
4. acting in an official capacity on behalf of the people as a whole
5. known by, or open to the knowledge of, all or most people

Id. at 1149.

The term "public" could be construed as "available to the public." This construction does little to save the statute. Such an interpretation would include within the statute virtually all housing developments, since in this country, those with sufficient funds may buy or rent any housing which they can afford.

The term "public" could be construed as "owned by the public." This construction does little to save the statute. Such an interpretation would include within the statute any place owned by the local, state, or federal governments. It would include college dormitories, military barracks, the Governor's mansion, juvenile detention homes, illegal alien detention camps, probation and restitution centers, migrant housing, homeless shelters, park ranger residences, prisons, jails, halfway houses, nursing or retirement homes, and

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