IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES BROWN,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No.: 81,189

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #0325791

GYPSY BAILEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #0797200

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904)488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

Pending before this Court in case number 81,724.

1st DCA 1992), "neither helpful nor persuasive," and reasoned:

While each of the three words of the phrase can be independently and easily defined, when used together in the statute, they present a veritable quagmire for any attempt at uniform enforcement.

We used several approaches as we analyzed the alleged vagueness of this We first considered whether we could articulate а precise instruction that would adequately advise a jury how to apply the statute in any particular set of circumstances. were unable to do so. We also considered whether we could advise law enforcement officers in the field as to a precise standard to apply in enforcing the statute. We were unable to do so. We then considered at great length the myriad circumstances under which statutory prohibition might be applicable. Although we could provide a long list of such circumstances, we set forth here only a few of the possibility that raised sufficient doubt in our minds to require us to conclude that the statute is unconstitutionally vague.

In regard to the "public" aspect of the "public housing facility" provision, definitively have no of way ascertaining the whether legislature intended the phrase to apply publicly-owned housing to the exclusion of privately-owned housing; to housing available for occupancy by the "public" in general or for low income occupants to housing that is government financed or built; or to housing that is privately-owned but leased government agency for availability to public welfare recipients. We simply have no idea as to the limitations that might be or should be applied to the "public" aspect of a "public housing facility."

The same problem exists in trying to correctly determine the parameters of the term "housing." Does that term apply to rental units only? Does it refer to multifamily housing only or also to single family units? Does it apply to dormitory and congregate living Are military housing and facilities? facilities included? Are religious or charitable owned and operated facilities available for occupancy or "shelter use" the public included? possibilities extend ad infinitum.

Finally, the term "facility" is open to so many possible interpretations as to be bewildering. Are the corporate offices of a "public housing facility" included? Are government offices that operate low income housing included? Are sewage, water and utility facilities included?

In our opinion the possibilities for a misapplication of the term "public housing facility" are too numerous to allow that provision to section 893.13(1)(i) to withstand constitutional scrutiny. Our decision does not affect the validity of other portions of that statute.

Thomas, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D1067-68.

The efforts of petitioner and the Second District in this regard are futile, where the focus is on the meaning of the phrase, not the individual words. See Deal v. United States, 7 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S283, S284 & S285 (U.S. May 17, 1993) ("[T]he meaning of a word cannot be determined in isolation, but must be drawn from the context in which it is used"; "petitioner's contention displays once again the

regrettable penchant for construing words in isolation."); Brown, 610 So. 2d at 1358 (petitioner "ignores the fact that the phrase itself has a meaning more narrow than that gleaned from the definitions of its component words."). Moreover, within the "trade" of narcotics sales, "public housing facility" has a special meaning. See Southeastern Fisheries, 453 So. 2d at 1353. See also 42 U.S.C. § 11901 (1991) (Congress made the following findings: "(1) the Federal Government has a duty to provide public and other federally assisted low-income housing that is decent, safe, and free from illegal drugs; (2) public and other federally assisted low-income housing in many areas suffers rampant drug-related crime; (3) drug increasingly imposing a reign of terror on public and other federally assisted low-income housing tenants; (4) the increase in drug-related crime not only leads to murders, muggings, and other forms of violence against tenants, but also to a deterioration of the physical environment that requires substantial government expenditures; and (5) local law enforcement authorities often lack the resources to deal with the drug problem in public and other federally assisted low-income housing, particularly in light of the recent reductions in Federal aid to cities.").4

Due to the similarities between the federal drug statutes, i.e., 21 U.S.C. § 860, and the one at issue here, this court should view the federal statutes as persuasive authority. State v. Hermann, 164 Wis.2d 269, _____, 474 N.W.2d 906, 909 n.3 (Ct. App. 1991).

In view of the specific aim of section 893.13(1)(i) and the targeted meaning of the phrase "public housing facility,"

it is obviously unrealistic to require that criminal statutes define offenses with extreme particularity. For one thing, there are inherent limitations in the use of language; few words possess the precision of mathematical symbols. Secondly, legislators cannot foresee all of the variations of fact situations which may arise under a statute. some ambiguous statutes are the result of poor draftsmanship, it is apparent that in many instances the uncertainty is merely attributable to a desire not nullify the purpose legislation by the use of specific items which would afford loopholes through which many could escape.

W. R. LaFave & A. W. Scott, Substantive Criminal Law, Void-for-Vagueness Doctrine § 2.3, at 127-28 (1986). See also Southeastern Fisheries, 453 So. 2d at 1353 ("[C]ourts cannot require the legislature to draft laws with such specificity that the intent and purpose of the law may be easily avoided.").

In the present case, the phrase "public housing facility" is intelligible enough to place a person of common intelligence on notice of the proscribed behavior. See Brown, 610 So. 2d at 1358 ("[A] person of ordinary intelligence should know what was intended by the phrase."); Williams v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D1220, D1221 (Fla. 3d)

DCA May 11, 1993) ("The term 'public housing,' in common parlance, is understood to encompass affordable, government subsidized housing for individuals or families with varied needs"; "The statute under review in this case provides sufficient quidance to drug dealers to allow them to avoid the enhanced penalty imposed by the legislature."). qualification of the phrase obviously could have led to preposterous avoidance claims that the statute would not apply because "x" housing did not fit a specific statutory definition. Given the laudable purpose of the statute, i.e., to rid public housing facilities of the scourge of drugs, the statute is sufficiently specific be constitutional.

Regarding the second requirement of the vagueness doctrine -- non-selective enforcement -- it is well established that "[o]ne to whose conduct a statute clearly applies may not successfully challenge it for vagueness."

Parker v. Levy, 417 U.S. 733, 756 (1974). Thus, a criminal statute is not unconstitutionally vague on its face unless it is "impermissibly vague in all of its applications."

Village of Hoffman Estates v. Flipside, Hoffman Estates,

Inc., 455 U.S. 489, 497 (1982) (emphasis supplied). Because petitioner made no claim that his conduct was not covered by section 893.13(1)(i), his contention that the statute covers too many possibilities should fall on deaf ears.

Petitioner's brief evidences his confusion of the ofvagueness doctrines and overbreadth. Petitioner discussed at great length all the possible applications of the phrase "public housing facility," a inappropriate tack which the Second District adopted in its Thomas opinion. However, such an attack on the statute is permissible only in an overbreadth claim, which does not lie absent a facial challenge that the provision proscribes constitutionally protected speech or activities. 5 "The First Amendment doctrine of substantial overbreadth is an exception to the general rule that a person to whom a statute may be constitutionally applied cannot challenge the statute on the ground that it may be unconstitutionally applied to others." Massachusetts v. Oakes, 491 U.S. 576, 581 (1989). vagueness challenges, however, "[f]undamental constitutional principles dictate that one may not challenge those portions of an enactment which do not adversely affect his personal or property rights." Sandstrom v. Leader, 370 So. 2d 3, 4 1979). See also Parker, 417 U.S. at 756 vaqueness doctrine does not permit the challenger of a statute to confuse vagueness and overbreadth by attacking

Petitioner understandably made no First Amendment challenge below. See State v. Burch, 545 So. 2d 279, 281 (4th DCA 1989) (the defendants "'did not and could not reasonably contend that [their] conduct in . . . [selling] cocaine within one thousand feet of a school was protected by the first amendment.'") (citation omitted), approved, 558 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1990).

the enactment as being vague as applied to conduct other than his own).

Such a personal stake in the outcome of the controversy is necessary in order "to assure that concrete adverseness which sharpens the presentation issues upon which the court so largely depends for illumination of difficult constitutional questions[.] failed to abide by this limitation our Court would be relegated to being a "roving [commission] assigned to pass judgment on the validity of [state's] laws."

[A]ppellees have presented us with an array of acts which, although arguably intended, might be punishable under [the statute]. We are constrained by fundamental principles of appellate review to decline appellees' invitation to decide whether hypothetical acts would fall within the proscriptions of [the statute]. fact that the general conduct to which [the statute] is directed is plainly within its terms is a sufficient basis for our finding that this provision is unconstitutionally vague. marginal cases might exist where doubts may arise as to whether there may be prosecution under [the statute] does not render the enactment unconstitutionally vague.

Sandstrom, 370 So. 2d at 4, 6 (citations omitted).

In its <u>Thomas</u> decision, the Second District carried on at length about "the possibility for a misapplication" of the "public housing facility" phrase. In declaring section 893.13(1)(i) void for vagueness, however, that court

utilized a wholly improper analysis. The focus of the void for vagueness doctrine is not whether "it is unclear in some of its applications to the condition of [a given defendant] and of some other hypothetical parties." Hoffman, 455 U.S. at 495 (emphasis in original). Instead, "[t]o succeed [with a vagueness claim], the complainant must demonstrate that the law is impermissibly vague in all of its applications." Id. at 497.

In a similar vein, Justice White observed:

If there is a range of conduct that is clearly within the reach of the statute, law enforcement personnel, as well as putative arrestees, are clearly on notice that arrests for such conduct are authorized by the law. There would be nothing arbitrary or discretionary If the officer about such arrests. arrests for an act that both he and the lawbreaker know is clearly barred by the statute, it seems . . . an untenable judicial exercise οf review invalidate a state conviction because in some other circumstances the officer may arbitrarily misapply the statute. might the law not give sufficient quidance to arresting officers respect to other conduct should be dealt with in those situations. It is no basis for fashioning a further brand of "overbreadth" invalidating and statute on its face, thus forbidding its application to identifiable conduct that it within the State's power to sanction.

Kolender v. Lawson, 461 U.S. 352, 371 (1983) (White, J., dissenting). See also Hoffman, 455 U.S. at 503 n.21 ("The theoretical possibility that the village will enforce its

ordinance against a paper clip placed next to a Rolling Stone magazine . . . is of no due process significance unless the possibility ripens into a prosecution."); Seagram & Sons v. Hostetter, 384 U.S. 35, 52 (1966) ("Although it is possible that specific future applications . . . may engender concrete problems of constitutional dimension, it will be time enough to consider any such problems when they A case-by-case approach for situations arise."). addressed by petitioner's conduct is not only recommended by case law, but preferable in reality. Florida previously has done just that in the context of section 893.13(1)(e). State v. Burch, 545 So. 2d 279 (4th DCA 1989), approved, 558 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1990) (subsequent cases, namely State v. Lee, 583 So. 2d 1055 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), State v. Edwards, 581 So. 2d 232 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), and State v. Rowland, 577 So. 2d 680 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), helped define the phrase "public or private elementary school" by holding that it meant first through sixth grades, and did not include a kindergarten, a private home in which tutoring is provided, or an exceptional school for handicapped students).

In <u>Thomas</u>, the Second District erred as a matter of law in applying overbreadth principles to a vagueness claim. Such a blending of doctrines is unwarranted by the law, <u>see Parker</u>, 417 U.S. at 756, and results in bad precedent. <u>See</u>, e.g., <u>State v. Tirohn</u>, 556 So. 2d 447 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990).

Applying a proper vagueness analysis, petitioner obviously had notice that his behavior was proscribed, and because his conduct fell clearly within the purview of the statute, the statute was not selectively enforced against him.

Issue II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY IMPOSED THE CONDITION OF PROBATION WHICH PROHIBITED PETITIONER'S PRESENCE IN CERTAIN LOCATIONS.

Petitioner makes clear that he is using this Court's grant of jurisdiction concerning the first issue as a vehicle to receive a second review of this issue because "[t]he lower tribunal did not address this issue." Brief of Petitioner at 3. This type of appellate practice is abominable, particularly in view of this Court's recent refusals to address issues which were outside the scope of conflict or a certified question. See State v. Hodges, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S225 (Fla. Apr. 15, 1993); Burks v. State, 613 So. 2d 441 (Fla. 1993); Gibson v. State, 585 So. 2d 285 (Fla. 1991); Stephens v. State, 572 So. 2d 1387 (Fla. 1991). Because this Court granted jurisdiction based on the first issue only, it should decline to address this point.

In any event, petitioner claims that the trial court erred in orally delegating to the probation officer the power to outline the areas in which petitioner's presence would be prohibited (R 125). Even though the written order specified precisely which areas petitioner was precluded from visiting (R 189), petitioner also claims error based on the failure of the written order to conform to oral pronouncement. Thus, petitioner's claim for relief distills

into the following: Because oral pronouncement and written imposition do not conform, the case must be remanded for the trial court to make the written order conform with oral pronouncement. See Ashe v. State, 582 So. 2d 759 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). But then, because the condition would be illegal for its delegation of authority to the probation officer, see Henshaw v. State, 564 So. 2d 541 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), petitioner would appeal once again to have this condition deleted.

This Court should censure petitioner's tactic. The record shows that, between the time it orally pronounced the condition and imposed it in writing, the trial court realized its mistake in delegating the authority to determine the prohibited areas to the probation officer. in entering its written order, the trial court attempted to alleviate the problem. Perhaps the better approach would have been to set another short hearing and the more specific condition in petitioner's pronounce presence. However, petitioner must not be permitted to claim error in a manner which creates subsequent error for yet another appeal concerning this same condition. This ploy constitutes the type of reprehensible "legal churning" condemned by this Court in State v. Rucker, 613 So. 2d 460, 462 (Fla. 1993).

CONCLUSION

Based on the above cited legal authorities and arguments, the state respectfully requests this Honorable Court: (1) As to Issue I, to affirm the decision of the First District Court of Appeal in Brown, quash the decision of the Second District in Thomas, and declare Fla. Stat. § 893.13(1)(i) (Supp. 1990) constitutional; and (2) as to Issue II, to either decline to address the point or refuse to grant the requested relief.